1978

Ophelia Archuletta Armenta v. Grandview Café et al : Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant Ophelia Archuletta Armenta

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order of the Industrial Commission of Utah denying plaintiff, Ophelia Archuletta Armenta, compensation benefits from the "Second Injury Fund," as is provided for by Sections 35-1-68(1) and 35-1-69 UCA, 1953.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The Industrial Commission denied plaintiff the benefits provided for by Section 35-1-69 UCA, 1953 from the "Special Fund," hereinafter referred to as "Second Injury Fund."

RELEASE SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff on appeal respectfully asks that the decision of the Industrial Commission denying plaintiff benefits under

the provisions of 35-1-69 UCA, 1953, be reversed by this court and applicant receive benefits from the "Second Injury Fund."

FACTS

This case involves a medical history wherein the employee had previously incurred a "permanent incapacity by accidental injury, disease, or congenital causes"; to wit: a cervical fusion in 1966, wherein surgery was performed by an anterior approach by C. M. Smith, Jr., M.D., and a further posterior cervical fusion performed in 1968 by C. M. Smith, Jr., M.D. (R.56, ¶9)

On June 29, 1974, while in the employ of Grandview Cafe of Provo, Utah, plaintiff was carrying a tray of dishes to the kitchen when she slipped and fell to the floor. A fork from the tray bounced into an upright position and the prongs of the fork penetrated her right elbow. (R.3-4) The report of the treating physician indicates that she "slipped on the floor and fell on a fork, which lacerated her right elbow." As to the nature and extent of the injury, Orthopedist, John Mendenhall, M.D., indicated that plaintiff suffered a lacerated triceps tendon, exposure of ulner nerve and cervical strain. (R.1) She was hospitalized at Utah Valley Hospital and Dr. Mendenhall performed surgery on June 29, 1974, repairing a lacerated triiceps tendon. He also exposed the ulnar nerve. He diagnosed a cervical sprain. (R.50, ¶1) Her condition stabilized and she

was released by Dr. Mendenhall on October 20, 1974 to return to work. Payment of temporary total compensation benefits commenced on September 13, 1974 and the compensation was paid at that time from July 1, 1974 to September 15, 1974. (R.5-6) Temporary total compensation benefits continued until October 20, 1974, the date of her release by Dr. Mendenhall. (R.7)

On November 15, 1975 the State Insurance Fund requested a supplemental report of her physical condition directed to Dr. John Mendenhall. (R.11) Further requests were made for this report by the State Insurance Fund on February 18, 1976. (R.12) No supplemental report on permanent partial disability was ever received from Dr. Mendenhall (R.46-47) and plaintiff was on family assistance payments.

The plaintiff left the State of Utah in April, 1976 and went with her husband to Stockton, California.

On May 2, 1977, plaintiff filed her claim for compensation. (R.14) The matter came on for hearing on May 9, 1977. (R.19)

Upon her return to Utah for the hearing, Mrs. Armenta was seen and examined by Wayne M. Hebertson, M.D., Neurologist, on May 11, 1977, who filed his report dated May 12, 1977. (R.50-53) Dr. Hebertson rated her permanent partial disability. (R.53, Para.2)

Subsequent to the hearing and upon the basis of the report of Dr. Hebertson, she was seen by Boyd G. Holbrook, M.D.,

Orthopedist, on May 20, 1977. His report under the same date was received by the Industrial Commission on May 27, 1977. (R.55,58) Dr. Holbrook rated her permanent partial disability. (R.57, last paragraph and R.58, Para.1)

Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were submitted by plaintiff on October 7, 1977. (R.60-65)

Based thereon, the Administrative Law Judge made and entered Interim Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on November 22, 1977. (R.68-72)

The Administrative Law Judge, insofar as in issue here, found:

6. Boyd G. Holbrook rated the applicant on the basis of permanent partial impairment of the whole person as follows:
 - a. 20% permanent physical impairment as a result of her prior neck operation.
 - b. 20% permanent physical impairment of the body as a whole relative to the upper right extremity and neck aggravation.
 - c. 20% and 30% sic (20%) combined under the AMA Chart to 36% permanent physical impairment at this time.
7. Both examining physicians recommended further diagnostic procedures and further treatment of the applicant while recommendations are adopted. (sic) "which"
8. Applicant's attorney has rendered legal services to the applicant in the reasonable sum of \$110 which should be awarded to him as temporary attorney's fees, the same to be deducted from the present award.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:

The applicant is entitled to temporary total disability compensation in addition to that previously paid in a lump sum amount of \$735.28. Based upon the present state of the record, the applicant is entitled to further compensation for permanent partial disability and for relief under the provisions of Section 35-1-69 UCA, 1953. Applicant should receive further medical treatment for the maximum benefits and be referred to a medical panel for determination of the medical issues involved. Applicant's attorney should be awarded the interim attorney's fee in the sum of \$110, the same to be deducted from the present award. (R.70) (emphasis added)

Pursuant to Dr. Holbrook's recommendation and pursuant to the interim order, plaintiff was admitted to St. Mark's Hospital on December 1, 1977, wherein a myelogram was performed. Dr. Holbrook filed a further report (R.75-76) again rating permanent partial disability. She was also seen by Dennis D. Thoen, Neurologist. Plaintiff was examined by Edwin McGough, M.D., chest surgeon, and LaVerne Erickson, Neurologist. This is summarized in a further report by Boyd G. Holbrook, M.D., dated December 8, 1977. (R.75-76) She was again rated for permanent partial disability by Dr. Holbrook, restating his rating of May 20, 1977, omitting the combining statement. (R.75-76)

On December 12, 1977, plaintiff moved the Commission for entry of an order:

2. Based upon the record in the foregoing matter, applicant moves the commission to join the Industrial Commission of Utah as

custodian of the special fund provided for by 35-1-68(1) UCA, 1953 and for relief under the provisions of 35-1-69 UCA, 1953.