1979

Ophelia Archuletta Armenta v. Grandview Café et al : Brief of Defendant-Appellee State Insurance Fund

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order of the Industrial Commission of Utah denying plaintiff, Ophelia Archuletta Armenta, compensation benefits from the "Second Injury Fund", to which she is entitled under Sections 35-1-68(1) and 35-1-69 UCA, 1953.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The Industrial Commission denied plaintiff the benefits provided for by §35-1-69 UCA, 1953 from the "Special Fund", herein-after referred to as the "Seond Injury Fund".

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendant on appeal State Insurance Fund respectfully asks that the decision of the Industrial Commission denying plaintiff benefits under the provisions of 35-1-69 UCA, 1953, be reversed by this Court, that the applicant be granted the benefits

to which she is entitled from the Second Injury Fund including compensation for future medical expenses and future temporary total disability, and that the defendant State Insurance Fund be reimbursed by the Second Injury Fund for its proportionate share of medical compensation and temporary total compensation benefits already paid.

FACTS

The facts of this case are as stated by the plaintiff-appellant in her Brief. The defendant on appeal State Insurance Fund accepts and incorporates herein that statement of facts.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE SECOND INJURY FUND IS LIABLE FOR A PORTION OF THE COMPENSATION PAYABLE TO THE APPLICANT EQUAL TO THE PERCENTAGE OF HER PERMANENT INCAPACITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO A PRE-EXISTING CONDITION.

The defendant on appeal State Insurance Fund joins the plaintiff on appeal in her contention that she is entitled to permanent disability compensation from the Second Injury Fund for that portion of her disability attributable to her pre-existing condition. The defendant State Insurance Fund agrees that the Second Injury Fund is liable for its proportionate share of future medical expenses, and further contends that the State Insurance Fund is entitled to reimbursement from the Second Injury Fund for its proportionate share of medical expenses already paid by the State Insurance Fund.

As noted by the appellant, the Administrative Law Judge found that she suffered a 20% permanent physical impairment as a result of prior neck operations, and a 20% permanent physical impairment of the

body as a whole relative to the right upper extremity and neck injury resulting from the industrial accident of June 29, 1974. He found her total impairment under the AMA chart to be 36%. These findings were based on the report of Dr. Holbrook who served as a one-man medical panel in this case.

The Industrial Commission denied the applicant Second Injury Fund benefits despite Dr. Holbrook's conclusion that half of her 36% impairment was attributable to a pre-existing condition. In so doing, the Commission once again ignored the clear directives of the applicable statute and definitive interpretations of the law by this Court. Once again, this Court is called upon to require the Commission to award benefits to which an applicant is legally entitled from the Second Injury Fund which is administered and controlled by the Commission.

The Commission denied these benefits because, in its opinion, "there is no substantially greater increase in disability than would have occurred had not the pre-existing condition existed . . ." This conclusion is based on Dr. Holbrook's remark that "it is difficult at this time to state that the neck is worse as a result of this injury than it was prior to this injury." The Commission obviously found insufficient Dr. Holbrook's report that the applicant had a 20% impairment as a result of prior neck operations, and a 20% impairment relative to her right upper extremity and neck aggravation. In fact, this evidence itself compels the payment of Second Injury Fund benefits, and only by misconstruing the statute could the Commission justify a refusal to make such an award.

In pertinent part, §35-1-69(1) UCA, 1953 provides:

If any employee who has previously incurred a permanent incapacity by accidental injury, disease or congenital causes, sustains an industrial injury. . . that results in permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity, compensation and medical care. . . shall be awarded on the basis of the combined injuries, but the liability of the employer . . . shall be for the industrial injury only and the remainder shall be paid out of the Special Fund provided for in §35-1-68.

This section was construed by this Court in the case of Intermountain Health Care, Inc. v. Ortega, 562 P.2d 617, 619 (Utah 1977). In that case, the applicant was 30% disabled after her industrial accident. Twenty percent of her disability was caused by her industrial back injury; ten percent was psychosomatic pain attributable to a pre-existing psychological condition.

. . . if the requirement of the statute is met, that is if the resulting permanent incapacity is substantially greater than if the pre-existing incapacity had not existed, the proportional causation must be found and that portion attributable to the previous condition paid out of the Special Fund.

The requirement that the pre-existing condition combines with the later injury to cause a "substantially greater" permanent incapacity does not mean that the former must be greater than the latter. It simply means that it be some definite and measurable portion of the causation of the disability. It surely cannot be doubted that 30% is substantially greater than 20%, nor that 10% disability is itself substantial in that is definite and measurable. Consequently, inasmuch as it appears that the pre-existing condition increased the resulting disability by 1/3, it follows that under the requirements of the statute, the medical expenses as well as the compensation award should have been apportioned 2/3 from the employer and 1/3 from the Special Fund.

As a result of her industrial accident, the applicant in this case became 18% disabled. Her total disability after the

accident was 36%. Eighteen percent of her permanent disability is directly attributable to her pre-existing incapacity. She is entitled to benefits from the Second Injury Fund because her prior incapacity is a measurable portion of her total incapacity after the accident.

It was apparently significant to the Commission that the applicant's prior incapacity was specifically related to her neck, whereas the accident caused a disability of the right upper extremity as well as the neck. However, the law does not require that the prior incapacity result in a substantially greater disability to the same area of the body which becomes disabled as a result of the industrial injury. Such a requirement would be inconsistent with the interpretation given the statute by this Court in the Ortega case as quoted above.

Some states require by statute that an industrial injury aggravate the pre-existing condition before their Second Injury Fund has any liability. That is the law in Arizona, for example. See A.R.S. §23-1065(a)(5). However this requirement is inconsistent with the law of most states and should not be read into our statute. Professor Larson discusses this issue in Vol. 2 §59.32 of Workmen's Compensation Law at pp. 10310-10314.

The typical Second Injury statute speaks of a second injury "added to" a pre-existing injury or disability. The question sometimes arises whether the second injury must be shown to have been related to or to have acted upon the prior injury--as, for example, loss of fingers of the same hand. It is generally held that no special relation between the injuries is necessary, so long as the existence of the former substantially augments the disability ensuing from the latter. . . . Although the prior impairment need not combine with the compensable injury in any special way, it must add something

to the disability before the Special Fund can become liable. In other words, it is not enough to show that the claimant had some kind of handicap if that handicap contributed nothing to the final disability.

It is the significance of the increase in the final overall disability that determines the liability of the Second Injury Fund. If an industrial injury itself results in total disability, or if the prior incapacity is the sort which, in combination with the industrial injury, does not appreciably alter the claimant's physical incapacity, the Second Injury Fund has no liability. But in this case, it is certain that the prior incapacity substantially increased the overall incapacity from which the applicant suffered as a result of her injury. Neither the statute, nor the rulings of this court, nor the law of Workmen's Compensation in general, require that an industrial accident aggravate the pre-existing condition in order to qualify an applicant for Second Injury Fund benefits.

POINT II.

THE SECOND INJURY FUND IS LIABLE FOR ITS PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF COMPENSATION FOR MEDICAL EXPENSES AND TEMPORARY DISABILITY.

The appellant seeks a ruling that the Second Injury Fund is liable for its proportionate share of medical expenses which she may incur in the future. The defendant on appeal State Insurance Fund joins in this assertion, and contends that the Second Injury Fund should be held liable for its pro rata share of medical expenses already paid by the State Insurance Fund. Furthermore, the Second Injury Fund should be ordered to pay an equivalent share of temporary total disability compensation whether already paid by the State Insurance Fund, or yet to be incurred.

This Court is well aware that the Industrial Commission has categorically refused to apportion medical expenses and temporary total disability compensation in cases where the Second Injury Fund has been found liable for a portion of permanent disability compensation. (See the Brief of Plaintiffs on Appeal in Supreme Court cases No. 15882, No. 15881, and No. 15796 currently pending before this Court.) However, Section 35-1-69 UCA, 1953, and this Court's construction of the provision in the Ortega case, supra, leave no doubt that the commission is required to apportion compensation for medical expenses as well as temporary and permanent compensation benefits between the employer and the Second Injury Fund in any case where an applicant's permanent incapacity has been measurably increased by a pre-existing condition.

As noted earlier, Section 35-1-69 UCA, 1953, provides that an employer's liability "for such compensation and medical care shall be for the industrial injury only and the remainder shall be paid out of the Special Fund. . ."

In the Ortega decision, supra, this Court held that medical expenses as well as compensation were to be apportioned in cases where the liability of the Second Injury Fund was established.

But it will be noted that the statute makes no distinction between the award for compensation and medical expenses; and that if the requirement of the statute is met, that is, if the resulting permanent incapacity is substantially greater than if the pre-existing incapacity had not existed, the proportional causation must be found and that portion attributable to the previous condition paid out of the Special Fund.

P.2d at 619.

Furthermore, the definition of compensation in the Workmen's Compensation Act, makes it clear that temporary total disability benefits are "compensation", and therefore subject to apportionment as well.

- (6) Compensation shall mean the payment of benefits provided for in this title §35-1-44(6) UCA, 1953.

Accordingly, the defendant on appeal State Insurance Fund asserts its right to reimbursement from the Second Injury Fund for compensation for medical expenses and temporary total disability benefits previously expended in an amount equal to its proportionate share of permanent disability compensation. Furthermore, the Second Injury Fund should be ordered to pay the same portion of any future medical expenses and temporary total disability benefits to which this applicant becomes entitled.

DATED this 27th day of December, 1978.

BLACK & MOORE


JAMES R. BLACK


TIMOTHY C. HOUP